
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 

JAMES LEE SALTMARSHALL, an 

individual,  

 

Plaintiff,  

 

v.  

 

PRIME HEALTHCARE SERVICES – 

GARDEN CITY, LLC, a foreign 

limited liability company doing 

business as Garden City Osteopathic 

Hospital, SHAWNA WRIGHT, MD, an 

individual, VHS CHILDREN’S 

HOSPITAL OF MICHIGAN, INC., a 

foreign corporation doing business as 

Children’s Hospital of Michigan, 

SCOTT LANGENBERG, MD, an 

individual, CHRISTIAN 

BOWERFIELD, MD, an individual, 

JONATHAN MUNSON, an individual, 

JEFFREY TWARDZIK, an individual, 

JEFFREY SMITH, an individual, and 

the CITY OF INKSTER, a municipal 

corporation,  

 

Defendants.  

  
 
 

 
Case No.: 18-cv-10887 
Hon.                                 
 
 
Lower Court: 
WCCC Case No. 17-015025-CZ 
Hon. Susan L. Hubbard 
 
 
 
DEFENDANTS’ NOTICE 

OF REMOVAL PURSUANT TO 

28 USC § 1331 (FEDERAL 

QUESTION JURISDICTION) 
 
 
 

 

_________________________________________________________________/ 

LEGAL WARRIORS, PLLC 

Lillian F. Diallo (P52036) 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 

500 Griswold, Suite 2340 

Detroit, Michigan 48226 

(313) 965-6633 

lilliandiallo@sbcglobal.net 

 

 

ALLEN BROTHERS, PLLC 

David Jones (P57103) 

Charles S. Rudy (P27881) 

Attorneys for Inkster Defendants 

400 Monroe Street, Suite 620 

Detroit, Michigan 48226 

(313) 962-7777 

djones@allenbrotherspllc.com  

crudy@allenbrotherspllc.com  
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Larry Polk (P48164) 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 

Lpolk14405@aol.com  
 

 

DEFENDANTS’ NOTICE OF REMOVAL PURSUANT TO 28 USC § 1331 

(FEDERAL QUESTION JURISDICTION) 

 

TO THE CLERK OF THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED COURT: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendants City of Inkster (“Inkster”), 

Detective/Sergeant Jonathan Munson (“Munson”), Lieutenant Jeffrey Twardzik 

(“Twardzik”) and Detective/Lieutenant Jeffrey Smith (“Smith”) (collectively “Inkster 

Defendants”), by their counsel, hereby remove the matter entitled, James Lee 

Saltmarshall v. Prime Healthcare Services – Garden City, LLC, Shawna Wright, MD, 

VHS Children’s Hospital of Michigan, Inc., Scott Langenberg, MD, Christian 

Bowerfield, MD, Jonathan Munson, Jeffrey Twardzik, Jeffrey Smith and the City of 

Inkster, Case No. 17-015025-CZ, currently pending in the Wayne County Circuit 

Court (“State Court Lawsuit”), to the United States District Court for the Eastern 

District of Michigan. The bases for removal of the State Court Lawsuit are set forth 

below: 

STATEMENT OF GROUNDS FOR REMOVAL 

 

1. By information and belief, the State Court Lawsuit was commenced in 

the Wayne County Circuit Court with the filing of a Summons and Complaint on 

October 16, 2017. The State Court Lawsuit was given Case Number: 17-015025-CZ 

and was assigned to the Honorable Susan L. Hubbard.  
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2. None of the Inkster Defendants have been properly served with the 

Summons or Complaint or any other pleadings in the State Court Lawsuit. However, 

some of the Inkster Defendants have received copies of the Summons and Complaint. 

Munson found copies of the Summons and Complaint and a Motion and Order for a 

Second Summons in his mailbox at the Inkster Police Department Stationhouse on 

February 16, 2018; and he gave copies to Smith on the same day. Twardzik found 

copies of these same in his mailbox at the Inkster Police Department Stationhouse on 

February 20, 2018. Inkster has not been served. A copy of the Summons, Complaint 

and Motion and Order for a Second Summons, which constitute all process and 

pleadings received by Munson, Smith and Twardzik, and of which the Inkster 

Defendants have notice, are attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

3. The Inkster Defendants do not know if the other Defendants named in 

the Complaint have been served. The other Defendants are Prime Healthcare Services 

– Garden City, LLC, d/b/a Garden City Osteopathic Hospital (“Garden City 

Hospital”), Shawna Wright, DO (“Dr. Wright”), VHS Children’s Hospital of 

Michigan, Inc., d/b/a Children’s Hospital of Michigan (“Children’s Hospital”), Scott 

Langenburg, MD
1
 (“Dr. Langenburg”) and Christian Bowerfield, MD (“Dr. 

Bowerfield”) (collectively, “Medical Defendants”). There is no return of service filed 

in the State Court Lawsuit indicating that any of the Medical Defendants have been 

                                                           
1
 Scott Langenburg, MD, is referred to incorrectly as Scott Langenberg, MD, in the 

Complaint.  
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served. No attorneys have filed appearances or other pleadings on behalf of any of the 

Medical Defendants. Efforts to obtain information from Plaintiff’s attorney 

concerning the status of service upon the Medical Defendants have been 

unsuccessful.  

4. This Notice of Removal is being filed within 30 days after Munson, 

Smith and Twardzik received the Summons, Complaint and Motion and Order for a 

Second Summons, as required by 28 USC § 1446(b). 

5. The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan, 

Southern Division, has jurisdiction over this case based federal question jurisdiction 

pursuant to 28 USC § 1331. 

PLAINTIFFS’ FEDERAL CLAIMS 

 6. In Count I of the Complaint in the State Court Lawsuit, Plaintiff James 

Lee Saltmarshall (“Saltmarshall”) alleges that all of the Defendants violated 42 USC 

§ 1983 by conspiring to deprive him of his rights under the Fifth and 14
th
 

Amendments to the United State Constitution (Complaint, ¶¶ 6, 7, 58-65).  

Accordingly, this Court has original jurisdiction over Count I of Saltmarshall’s 

Complaint because it is a civil action arising under the Constitution, laws or treaties 

of the United States. 28 USC § 1331.  

 7. Specifically, in Saltmarshall’s Complaint, he alleges that, on the 

afternoon of April 20, 2017, he and his daughter, Janiya L. Saltmarshall (“Janiya”), 

who was then about eight months old, were asleep in the same adult bed at the Alpine 
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Motel at 26131 Michigan Avenue in the City of Inkster (Complaint, ¶¶ 31-33). 

Saltmarshall further alleges that he awakened, went to the bathroom and, when he 

returned, found that Janiya was non-responsive (Complaint, ¶ 34). Saltmarshall called 

911 at approximately 4:23 PM and began to attempt resuscitation (Complaint, ¶¶ 31, 

33-37). Inkster Police Department and Fire Department representatives responded to 

Saltmarshall’s 911 call, initiated efforts to resuscitate Janiya and transported both 

Saltmarshall and Janiya to Garden City Hospital (Complaint, ¶¶ 38-39). At Garden 

City Hospital, Dr. Wright examined Janiya and concluded that she had injuries to her 

anus and a relatively large amount of rectal bleeding (Complaint, ¶¶ 42-45). Dr. 

Wright stated that the staff found anal tearing in and around Janiyah’s rectum 

(Complaint, ¶ 46). Dr. Wright further stated that the nature of the injury to Janiya’s 

rectum could only have been caused by something being inserted into her rectum 

(Complaint, ¶ 46). Saltmarshall claims that, based on Dr. Wright’s conclusions, 

Munson and Smith arrested him and took him into custody (Complaint, ¶¶ 47-48).
2
 

 8. Later on April 20, 2017, Janiya was transported to Children’s Hospital, 

where she was examined by Dr. Langenburg and Dr. Bowerfield (Complaint, ¶¶ 49-

53). Dr. Langenburg “concluded that Janiya had skull fracture, brain swelling, lung 

bruising and anal laceration” (Complaint, ¶ 50). Dr. Langenburg “opined that the 

trauma was not due to an accident” (Complaint, ¶ 51). Dr. Bowerfield “opined that 

                                                           
2
 Saltmarshall actually was arrested under outstanding warrants previously issued by 

the 34
th

 and 36
th

 Judicial District Courts.  
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Janiya suffered bi-lateral retinal hemorrhaging indicative of shaken baby syndrome” 

(Complaint, ¶ 52). Dr. Bowerfield “did not believe the injuries could have been 

caused by a fall from a bed and he ruled out the possibility that the anal laceration 

could have been caused by constipation or some other internal condition” (Complaint, 

¶ 53).  

9. Janiyah died on April 23, 2017. 

10. On April 23, 2017, the Wayne County Prosecutor Kim Worthy charged 

Saltmarshall with felony murder, first degree child abuse and first degree criminal 

sexual conduct (Complaint, ¶ 77). A warrant for Saltmarshall’s arrest was authorized 

on April 24, 2017, and he was arraigned on the same day in the 22
nd

 District Court 

and bound over. 

11. The Wayne County Medical Examiner conducted an autopsy of Janiyah 

on April 24, 2017, but did not issue an Autopsy Report until June 12, 2017. In the 

Autopsy Report, the Medical Examiner concluded that Janiyah’s death was caused by 

asphyxia which likely was the result of Saltmarshall’s negligence in sleeping with her 

in an adult bed. The Medical Examiner concluded that Janiyah’s death was 

accidental. The Medical Examiner did not find evidence of skull fractures or shaken 

baby syndrome.  

12. Based on the Autopsy Report, the criminal charges against Saltmarshall 

relating to Janiyah were dismissed on June 29, 2017. Saltmarshall was “retained in 
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custody” for an additional four days because of the charges relating to Janiyah’s 

death (Complaint, ¶ 57).  

13. Saltmarshall alleges that the Inkster Defendants conspired with the 

Medical Defendants to charge and prosecute Saltmarshall despite medical evidence to 

the contrary (Complaint, ¶¶ 59-64). Saltmarshall asserts that this alleged conspiracy 

constitutes a violation of 42 USC ¶ 1983 by all Defendants (Complaint, Count I).  

 14. Based on these same factual allegations, Saltmarshall asserts state 

common law claims of malicious prosecution, false arrest and false imprisonment, 

intentional infliction of emotional distress and gross negligence against all 

Defendants (Complaint, Counts II-V). Accordingly, this Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over Counts II through V of Saltmarshall’s Complaint because they arise 

from the same set of operative facts as Count I.   

THE OTHER REMOVAL PREREQUISITES HAVE BEEN SATISFIED 

 15. All of the Inkster Defendants have consented to this removal.  

16. The Inkster Defendants believe that, as of the present time, the Medical 

Defendants have not been properly joined and served in the State Court Lawsuit.  

 17. The Inkster Defendants believe that no Defendant has previously sought 

similar relief with respect to this matter. 

18. The prerequisites for removal under 28 USC § 1441 have been met. 
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19. In accordance with 28 USC § 1446(d), written notice of the filing of this 

Notice of Removal will be given to all parties of record. Furthermore, a copy of this 

Notice will be filed with the Clerk of the Wayne County Circuit Court.  

20.  The Inkster Defendants believe that the allegations contained in this 

Notice are true and correct. Furthermore, the Inkster Defendants believe that United 

States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan has jurisdiction over the 

claims asserted by Saltmarshall in his Complaint. 

21. The Inkster Defendants file this Notice and thereby remove the State 

Court Lawsuit to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan. 

Plaintiff’s counsel is notified to proceed no further in the State Court Lawsuit unless 

or until the State Court Lawsuit is remanded by order of the United States District 

Court. 

    ALLEN BROTHERS, PLLC 

 

    /s/ Charles S. Rudy 

David Jones (P57103) 

Charles S. Rudy (P27881) 

Attorneys for the Inkster Defendants 

400 Monroe Street, Suite 620 

Detroit, Michigan 48226 

(313) 962-7777 

crudy@allenbrotherspllc.com  

 

March 14, 2018 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

TARA KENDRICK, hereby certify that on March 16, 2018, I electronically 

filed the foregoing document, and this Certificate of Service with the Clerk of the 

Court using the ECF system which will send notification and copy of such filing to 

the attorneys of record.  I also sent copy of same to attorneys of record via First Class 

U.S. Mail with Postage fully prepaid. 

        /s/ Tara Kendrick    

       Tara Kendrick 

400 Monroe Street, Suite 620 

       Detroit, MI 48226 

       (313) 962-7777  

       tkendrick@allenbrotherspllc.com  
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INDEX OF EXHIBITS 
 

 

 

EXHIBIT  TITLE 
 

A Summons and Complaint   
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